

Plants under Continuous Light: A Review

Marina I. Sysoeva* • Eugenia F. Markovskaya • Tatjana G. Shibaeva

Institute of Biology, Karelian Research Centre, Russian Academy of Science, 11, Pushkinskaya st., 185910 Petrozavodsk, Russia

Corresponding author: * sysoeva@krc.karelia.ru

ABSTRACT

In this review an attempt has been made to analyze the results of the studies that explored the changes in the growth and development of plants exposed to continuous light published since the 1930s, including papers that are available in Russian only. Potential benefits of using a 24-h photoperiod for the production of greenhouse crops, transplant production in closed controlled environment systems and the culture of plants in controlled ecological life support systems are reviewed. Continuous lighting is shown to be a useful tool for speeding up the selection of crops. The mechanisms involved in a plant's response to continuous light and causes of negative effects of continuous light (foliar chlorosis, limited or reduced plant growth and productivity) are discussed. Plant response to continuous light depends on plant tolerance and can be modified by alterations in temperature, light intensity, CO_2 level, humidity, mineral nutrition and other environmental factors.

Keywords: 24-h photoperiod, growth, development, photosynthesis, chlorosis

Abbreviations: CAT, catalase; CELSS, controlled ecological life support systems; chl, chlorophyll; DM, dry matter; LAR, leaf area ratio; LDP, long-day plant; NAR, net assimilation rate; NDP, neutral-day plant; PAR, photosynthetically active radiation; POD, peroxidase; PPF, photosynthetic photon flux; SDP, short-day plant; SLA, specific leaf area; SOD, superoxide dismutase; SPS, sucrose phosphate synthase

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	5
PLANT DEVELOPMENT UNDER CONTINUOUS LIGHT	6
PLANT GROWTH AND PRODUCTIVITY UNDER CONTINUOUS LIGHT	7
ASSIMILATE PARTITIONING UNDER CONTINUOUS LIGHT	9
PHOTOSYNTHESIS UNDER CONTINUOUS LIGHT	10
LEAF PIGMENT CONTENT UNDER CONTINUOUS LIGHT	11
PHYSIOLOGICAL DISORDERS UNDER CONTINUOUS LIGHT	
CONCLUSION	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	15

INTRODUCTION

Light as an energy source for plant life is known to affect plants dually. It affects photosynthetic rate and assimilate accumulation, thereby playing a substrate role, but also controls plant growth and development, in that way playing a regulatory role. While plant growth in short-day (SD) and long-day (LD) conditions is generally well studied and has been reviewed recently by Adams and Langton (2005), less is known about the long-term impact of continuous light on plant growth and development, when many plant circadian rhythms are disrupted. Studies of plant growth and development under continuous light are of current importance for the production of greenhouse crops, where daily timing of supplementary lighting can be manipulated to maximize plant response or to minimize the heating costs by spreading the daily light integral from artificial sources over as many hours as possible. Growing plants under continuous light is a way of producing crops economically in controlled environment growth rooms. With extension to continuous radiation, savings possibility could be realized by decreasing the number of light fixtures per unit area and by prolonging useful lamp life (no on/off deterioration). Transplant production in closed controlled environment systems (CCES)

with artificial lighting, which have several potential benefits compared with conventional systems also requires knowledge of plant response to continuous light. In the culture of plants in controlled ecological life support systems (CELSS) in long duration space bases, it is essential to maximize plant growth rates or production of edible biomass per unit area per unit time. Limitations for plant growth in space include energy needed to produce light for photosynthesis. In an effort to deal with the low energy constraints during extended space missions, the use of low photosynthetic photon flux (PPF) has to be a viable alternative. One way to increase the daily total PPF is to extend the daily light period and/or provide continuous (24 h) lighting (Rowell et al. 1999). Wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.), potatoes (Solanum tuberosum L.), soybeans (Glycine max (L.) Merr.), lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.), tomato (Solanum lycopersicum L.), peanut (Arachis hypogaea L.), rice (Oryza sativa L.), barley (Hordeum vulgare L.), oats (Avena sativa L.), rye (Secale cereale L.), sorghum (Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench.), quinoa (Chenopodium quinoa Willd.) and other crops have been under investigation for use in the NASA's CELSS/Advanced Life Support (ALS) program as a food source for extended space missions. Continuous lighting can be a very useful tool for speeding

up selection of crops. Accelerated development of some plant species under continuous lighting allows breeders shortening of the generation cycle having more generations a year. It also permits breeders to have closer ripening terms of early- and late-season varieties and varieties with different photoperiodic sensitivity, which is important in growing of hybrid material. Besides, it decreases the dispersion of particular plant features (Lisovskij and Dolgushev 1986). Studying plant responses to continuous light may provide us with better understanding of plant adaptations in the Arctic under conditions of polar day with a 24-h photoperiod. Thus, according to Hay (1990) there have been two reasons for the sustained interest in the influence of daylength extension on growth. On the one hand, pasture grass breeders have become interested in the adaptation shown by commercially important species to the diverse combinations of temperature and photoperiod experienced in maritime and continental Europe. A major aim of this work has been to increase spring and autumn production without sacrificing winter hardiness. On the other hand, plant selection and breeding in Scandinavia has led to the development of named varieties of several grass species which are adapted to growing seasons near the Arctic Circle (continuous illumination and cool temperature) (Simonsen 1985).

This paper is focused on findings achieved in various experiments where plants were exposed to continuous light and summarizes the knowledge about the impact of continuous light on plant development, photosynthesis and growth, yield, and development of physiological disorders.

PLANT DEVELOPMENT UNDER CONTINUOUS LIGHT

There are reports in the literature of continuous light both increasing plant developmental rate and inhibiting development. In most of long-day plants (LDP) continuous light accelerated the reproductive cycle, while short-day plants (SDP) usually did not respond in such a way. Thus, continuous light was shown to increase the developmental rate in 30 spring wheat (LDP) cultivars of different geographical origin (Zhukov and Romanovskaja 1980), barley (LDP), radish (Raphanus sativus L.) (LDP) (Lisovskij and Dolgushev 1986; Moshkov 1987), LD and neutral day (ND) pea varieties (Pisum sativum L.) (Kornilov 1968; Berry and Âitken 1979; Lisovskij and Dolgushev 1986). For LD legume chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.), supplemental lighting was recommended under Indian conditions in order to provide continuous illumination, which greatly reduces the vegetation period and allows breeders obtaining four generations of chickpea a year (Sethi et al. 1981). In contrast, SD legume crop peanut was found to be relatively insensible of photoperiod as regards to the time to the appearance of first flower, while continuous light slightly increased the number of leaves produced per plant, although flower production was substantially enhanced among plants grown under the shorter (12 h) light period (Rowell et al. 1999). Alfalfa (Medicago sativa L.) is a typical LD perennial plant and in middle latitudes it often does not produce seeds on the first year, which means it takes 3-5 years to obtain seeds of the 2^{nd} or 3^{rd} generation. However, illumination by continuous light allowed obtaining mature alfalfa seeds in 90 days from sowing (Lisovskij and Dolgushev 1986). Rapid growth of alfalfa under continuous light was accompanied by enhanced tillering and formation of a great number of inflorescences without simultaneous growth retarding as it usually occurs in annual plants. Continuous light also turned out to be a useful tool for the breeders of such LDP as oilseed rape (Brassica napus L.) and yellow rocket (Barbarea vulgaris R.Br.) providing the possibility to obtain 3 generations of rape plants and 4 generations of yellow rocket in the winter period and ensuring more uniform material in respect of developmental rate, time of flowering, leafiness, etc. compared to 14-16-h photoperiod (Lisovskij and Dolgushev 1986). Three generations of flax (Linum usitatis*simum* L.) (LDP) a year can be also grown under continuous light providing high yields (Lisovskij and Dolgushev 1986). Continuous light is commonly used to accelerate the reproductive cycle in Arabidopsis (*Arabidopsis thaliana* (L.) Heynh.) (LDP) (Handling Arabidopsis Plants and Seeds 2004; Massa *et al.* 2007). It was assumed that the 24-hour illuminated Arabidopsis plants may not produce as much seed, having had less time to accumulate carbohydrates by vegetative growth (Massa *et al.* 2007). However, only one report was found suggesting that lower seed yields results from this treatment, and it involved 'weak mutants' (Hirono 1964).

In pot roses (*Rosa x hybrida*) (neutral-day plant (NDP)) continuous light decreased the number of days to flowering by 12% and increased the number of flowers by 34% compared to 18-h photoperiod (Pettersen *et al.* 2006, 2007). In contrast, continuous light had no influence on number of days to flowering for *Begonia* (LDP) and geranium (*Pelargonium x hortorum* Bailey) (NDP), while increased the number of buds and flowers in begonia compared to 16-h daylength (Gislerød *et al.* 1989).

The response of SDPs to continuous light is somewhat different. Thus, in millet (Panicum miliaceum L.) (SDP) continuous light decreased developmental rate compared to shorter photoperiods, but nevertheless a number of researchers reported that almost all tested millet cultivars flowered and produced seeds under continuous illumination when natural day was extended by supplemental lighting (Kornilov 1968; Lisovskij and Dolgushev 1986). Extension of photoperiod up to continuous light considerably extended the reproductive cycle, but increased total plant biomass and seed yield. Interestingly, continuous light extended the vegetation period of early-season cultivars compared to field conditions but shortened it in late-season cultivars, thereby reducing the difference between vegetation duration of utmost cultivars (Lisovskij and Dolgushev 1986). In contrast, early-season varieties of soybean (SDP) grown under continuous light did not demonstrate the delay in flowering compared to natural daylength (17.5 h), while the ripening was considerably (by 30-50 days) delayed in 16 out of 44 tested varieties (Davydenko et al. 2004).

Sunflower (Helianthus annuus L.) is regarded by many researchers as SDP or NDP; nevertheless, Gvozdeva (1981) observed shortening of the vegetation period of sunflower under continuous light by 3-7 days compared to 16-h photoperiod. Also Voskobojnik et al. (1981) concluded that SD was not necessary for normal growth and development of sunflower and photoperiods of 16 or 24-h were quite suitable, although 24-h photoperiod did not have benefits in respect of yield and energy inputs. The developmental rate of the typical SDP cotton (Gossypium spp.) was found to be higher under continuous light compared to SD at light intensity of 250 W m⁻² (Shul'gin 1973). Continuous lighting resulted in earlier flowering and fruiting of pepper plants (Capsicum annuum L.) (a moderately SDP) giving better early yields, compared with a 15-h photoperiod, while final productivity was identical for the two photoperiods (Costes and Milhet 1970). Different responses of SDPs to continuous light may be related to species biology as different species have evolved different mechanisms to respond to photoperiod (Jackson 2009) or variations of other environmental conditions, i.e. photoperiod-temperature interactions. In our research, we observed that in soybean (SDP) the development was accelerated by 24-h illumination only when daily temperature gradient was applied (Markovskaja and Sysoeva 2004). It was found also that daily short-term temperature drop may hasten plant development under continuous light. Thus, daily temperature drop to hardening temperature for 4 to 6 hours increased leaf initiation rate and lateral branching at early stages of ontogenesis in cucumber plants (Cucumis sativus L.) grown under continuous light (Sysoeva et al. 2007).

There are reports that continuous light initiated senescence earlier than shorter photoperiods, indicating accelerated development of plants. This was found to be the case by Gestel *et al.* (2005) who observed that onion plants (*Allium cepa* L.) grown in continuous light completed their growth stages about 45 days earlier than under normal field conditions. The more rapid senescence of leaves was observed in potato plants grown under 24-h photoperiod (Wheeler and Tibbitts 1987).

There are some reports in the scientific literature with the examples of the use of continuous light to accelerate trees and shrubs timing. Thus, in experiments of Hohlova et al. (1976) and Moshkov (1987) with black currant (Ribes nigrum L.) they were unable in the first year to stimulate flowering by continuous light, although plants grew vigorously and at the age of 2-2,5 months looked like 2-year-old seedlings. Later Hohlova et al. (1979) found a particular combination of continuous light followed by SD resulted in flowering of 70% of plants at the age of 9 months and fruiting of 58% of plants. Hohlova (1979) also observed that seedlings grown under continuous light followed by SD had compared well with 3-5-year old fruiting seedlings in the field as regards to flowering intensity, disease resistance and winter hardiness. The ability to obtain black currant flowering in the first year allowed breeders intensification of their work as usually it required 3-5 years in Siberia to estimate cultivars by their fruit quality (Lisovskij and Dolgushev 1986). Working with honeysuckle (Lonicera edulis Turcz. Ex Freyn), sea buckthorn (Hippophae rhamnoides L.) and apple trees (Malus domestica Borkh.) Lisovskij and Dolgushev (1986) showed that grown under continuous light for 4-6.5 months plants looked similar to 2-3-year-old field grown seedlings and were suitable for spring transplanting to permanent place. They failed to induce flowering in the first year, nevertheless plants flowered and fruited some years earlier compared to field-grown plants.

Plant response to continuous light may vary depending on the stage of plant development. Demers and Gosselin (2002) stated that although long-term use of continuous light is detrimental to tomato and sweet pepper plants, early vegetative growth and fruit production of both species can be improved by short-term use (5 to 7 weeks) of continuous lighting. Demers et al. (1998a) reported that continuous lighting hastened flowering of tomato plants but only during the first weeks. At the end of the experiment there was no difference between 14-h and 24-h photoperiods in the number of clusters that had reached anthesis. In experiments with pea flowering was most rapid in 24-h photoperiod, but the duration of the period from floral initiation to first flower was independent of photoperiod (Berry and Aitken 1979) suggesting that any differences in flowering between treatments arose prior to floral initiation. Many authors (Kleshnin et al. 1959; VNIIZH 1978; Zhukov and Romanovskaja 1980 et al.) believe that the most efficient is such light regime when at the early stages of ontogenesis plant development is slightly hampered by SD and then, in the period of intensive photosynthetic activity plants are provided with continuous lighting. It was shown that wheat grain yield was maximum when plants were provided with 16-18-h photoperiod during first 20-30 days followed by continuous light (Zhukov and Romanovskaja 1980; Lisovskij and Dolgushev 1986). Such lighting regime reduced radiant energy cost per grain yield by 20-30% while extending vegetation period by only 5-8 days. The most effective growing regime for barley was when 18-h photoperiod given for the first 20 days from seedling emergence was followed by continuous light (VNIIZH 1978). According to Kornilov (1968), millet is photoperiodically sensitive in the period from seedling emergence to the stage of 7-8 leaves. SD applied during the seedling emergence - paniculation period by enhancing development greatly reduced growth compared to continuous light treatment. It was suggested to apply SD for the development acceleration during shorter time, while 3-4 leaves appear and then grow millet under continuous light (Lisovskij and Dolgushev 1986). With this aim 24 cultivars of millet from 14 ecologo-geographical groups were tested. In these experiments, 16-h photoperiod during 3 weeks followed by continuous light accelerated

development more than continuous light or natural daylength, but continuous light was highly competitive in respect of energy input per unit yield. It has been noted above that the best regime for black currant was a combination of continuous light followed by SD resulted in flowering of plants at the age of 9 months (Hohlova *et al.* 1979). Findings by Sato *et al.* (2009) indicated that day-extension treatments from the middle term of growth until flowering time with more than 0.7 μ mol·m⁻²·s⁻¹ of far red light promoted a high production of marketable cut flowers of the *Eustoma grandiflorum* in early winter in the cool area in Japan and the effect was greatest with continuous lighting. Thus, many factors including photoperiodic sensitivity and responsiveness, precocity, developmental stage and environmental conditions affect plant developmental response to continuous light.

There are several indications of the role of continuous light spectrum in plant development. Thus, Kasajima et al. (2007) investigated the developmental rate of wheat (a Japanese spring wheat var. Norin 61 and a winter wheat var. Shun-yo) under continuous light of eight different qualities obtained by combining three out of four different kinds of fluorescent lamps (white, blue, purplish red and ultraviolet-A) at a constant temperature of 20°C. Results suggested that green and red lights play important roles in the regulation of the developmental rate having a promotive effect, independent of photoperiodism and vernalisation. This research aimed to accelerate heading, which shortens the generation cycle and improves the efficiency of the crossing. Apple trees grown under continuous light developed faster when supplemental red lighting was used (Isaeva 1978), while accelerated development of cucumber plants was observed when they were treated by supplemental blue light (L'vova 1978). Under continuous light, longer period of natural lighting in combination with shorter period of fluorescent lighting resulted in considerably faster generative development of vetch (Vicia spp.) plants (Rzhanova 1978). The great effect of light quality for continuous illuminating at 'night' on floral initiation of wild strawberry (Fragaria chiloensis L.) grown under a 24-h photoperiod was shown by Yanagi et al. (2006).

PLANT GROWTH AND PRODUCTIVITY UNDER CONTINUOUS LIGHT

The findings in the literature regarding the effect of continuous light on dry matter production are very contradictory, mainly due to different experimental settings and other than light growth factors, as well as different plant age. Extension of daylength to 24 h gave no further increases in dry matter accumulation in cucumber, maize (Zea mays L.), Chrysanthemum (Gislerød et al. 1989; Warrington and Norton 1991), begonia, geranium, Hedera, Kalanchoe (Gislerød et al. 1989), radish (Warrington and Norton 1991; Ohyama and Kozai 1998), sunflower (Gvozdeva 1981), lettuce (Inada and Yabumoto 1989) and even decreased growth and yields of tomato and sweet pepper plants in some cases when caused such negative effects as chlorosis or blistering of leaves (Costes and Milhet 1970; Bradley and Janes 1985; Vézina et al. 1991). However, Murakami et al. (2009) reported that plants of sweet pepper grew well and bore abundant fruits under continuous fluorescent illumination, although pungency level strongly increased. Ohyama et al. (2005a) reported working with tomato plug transplants that did not develop leaf injuries, probably due to the alternating air temperature, that fresh weight, dry weight and leaf area of tomato plants were 41, 25 and 64% greater, respectively, under the 24-h photoperiod than under 16-h photoperiod with the same daily integrated PPF. These results suggested that using a 24-h photoperiod with relatively low PPF has the benefit of reducing both initial and operational costs for transplant production in closed systems. Under the relatively low PPF condition, the number of lamps can be decreased, resulting in the reduction in the consumption rate of electric energy of lamps, decreased re-

quirements for cooling and the extension of lamp lifetime (Koontz and Prince 1986; Ohyama and Kozai 1998; Ohyama et al. 2005a). For the production of plant dry matter, often lengthening the photoperiod is more effective than increasing the illumination. Plants exposed to a low PPF for a long photoperiod generally accumulate more dry matter than plants exposed to a high PPF for a short photoperiod under the same daily integrated PPF. This phenomenon was reported in lettuce (Craker and Seibert 1982; Koontz and Prince 1986; Oda et al. 1989; Kitaya et al. 1998), radish (Craker et al. 1983), roses (Jiao et al. 1991), Benjamin Fig (Ficus benjamina L.) (Mortensen 1992) when plants were grown under the 24-h photoperiod vs shorter photoperiods. Craker and Seibert (1982) also observed that the lower the radiation, the greater the effect of increased photoperiod. Increased dry matter accumulation was also found in pansy (Viola x wittrockiana Kappert) (Langton et al. 2003), wine grape (Vitis vinifera L.) (Moshkov 1987), barley, millet, spring oilseed rape (Lisovskij and Dolgushev 1986) and beetroot (Beta vulgaris L.) (Lebedeva et al. 1978) grown under continuous light. Homma et al. (2009) reported that continuous irradiation by blue and especially red LED showed positive effects on growth of young tea plants (*Camellia sinensis* L.). Alfalfa seed yield was greater under continuous light compared the 18-h photoperiod (Lisovskij and Dolgushev 1986). Seeds of plants grown under continuous light had germinating capacity of 100% and were not hard, while those of plants grown under 18-h photoperiod had germinating capacity of 88% and almost all seeds were hard, i.e. required scarification.

Some tests sponsored by NASA focused on the photoperiod responses of potato cultivars, and in particular, which cultivars might be tolerant to continuous light. The rationale for this was simple: If plant growth and tuber yield could be increased with longer photoperiods, the total crop area required to sustain humans in a life support system could be reduced (Wheeler 2006). The good performance of some cultivars and the poor performance of others indicated genotypic differences in response to photoperiod (Wheeler and Tibbitts 1986a, 1986b; Yandell et al. 1988; Wheeler et al. 1991). In plants of potato cultivars that are tolerant to continuous light and did not develop leaf injuries or malformations dry matter production was greater under continuous light treatments than under the 12-h photoperiod (Wheeler and Tibbitts 1987). In contrast, the total growth of plants of intolerant cultivars was severely depressed under continuous light treatments. Initially, they grew vigorously but by 10-d-age the leaves began to show flecking and malformation. These injury symptoms intensified with age, consequently stunning total growth of these plants (Wheeler and Tibbitts 1986a, 1986b). The results of experiments suggested that all the cultivars tested were intrinsically 'short day' with regard to tuber initiation but that this tendency could be overridden with greater total light levels in some cultivars (Wheeler and Tibbitts 1986b). When plants were provided SD for the first 40 days to initiate strong tuber sinks followed by continuous light for 92 days to promote tuber bulking final tuber yields reached level, that is roughly twice that for record field yields, suggesting there is still potential for increasing yields in field settings (Wheeler 2006).

The alternation of photoperiods was found to give benefits to other crops also. Demers and Gosselin (2002) suggested that early vegetative growth and fruit production of tomato and pepper plants can be generally improved by continuous lighting for 5 to 7 weeks. However, they mentioned that such a practice should be investigated in order to determine if short-term use of continuous light might have residual negative effects on plants. A different lighting regime was proposed by Volk and Mitchell (1993) for rice (SDP), which has been selected as a CELSS candidate species for human life support in space. Greenhouse studies have shown that edible yield rates, shoot harvest index and individual panicle weight increased if the cultivar was switched from 8 h to 24 h day after panicle emergence. Not necessarily increased vegetative yield under continuous light results in increased reproductive yield. Thus, for example, Moshkov (1987) observed that in raspberry (*Rubus idaeous* L.) fruit yield was twice lower under continuous light compared the 13-15-h photoperiods, despite the fact that vegetative mass was the greatest under continuous light. Peanut plants exposed to continuous light produced 42% more foliage biomass, but 34% less pod yield, 66% less mature seed yield, and 94% lower harvest index compared to plants grown under 12-h photoperiod (Rowell *et al.* 1999).

There are findings that exposure to continuous light at high latitudes stimulates dry matter production. When plants are transferred beyond the Arctic Circle some species develop giantism (Shavrov 1961). Thus, onions Allium altaicum Pall. and A. atrosanguineum Schrenk from the Khibini Mountains were twice as large as plants from the natural habitats in the Altais and Alma-Ata (Kazakhstan) and the size and number of their generative organs were 15,5-2 times greater compared to natural ones (Shavrov 1961). In the 'Holt' cultivar of Kentucky bluegrass (Poa pratensis L.) at high latitudes large effects on plant dry weight and leaf area were related to significant influence of continuous light upon leaf anatomy (Hay and Heide 1983). From leaf impressions, it was established that the epidermal cells of leaf blades were longer and broader in LD (continuous light) than in SD controls. It was concluded that continuous light stimulated both cell extension and division. Furthermore, it was shown, using leaf sections, that the higher leaf area ratios under continuous light were not due solely to increased succulence, but also to modest decreases in leaf thickness and number of cell layers (Hay and Heide 1983). There were also indicated some changes in the Arctic in the anatomy of organs in a number of introduced plant species. For example, crested gentian plants (Gentiana septemfida Pall.) were characterized by expanded mesophyll cells of leaves and reproductive organs and prolonged meristematic activity of cells located near conducting bundles. Owing to these changes, introduced plants had the ability of long and intensive growth (Shavrov 1961).

There is no universal agreement among authors who have reported a dry weight gain as to the mechanisms involved in the plant response to continuous light. Some authors relate stimulation of biological productivity of plants under continuous light to increased tillering and lateral branching. For example, stimulated tillering was observed in temperate grasses under continuous light (Simonsen 1985). However, Solhaug (1991) observed the opposite effect when SD (8 vs 24 h) increased tillering in 5 grass species. Increased branching was observed in many plants transferred from different geographical regions of the world to Kola Peninsula in the Russian Arctic (Shavrov 1961), where the period when the Sun is continuously in the sky lasts up to 53 days. Even larger (up to 100 days) is the period of so-called 'white nights' and the period with nights without complete dark is up to 160 days. Besides, according to Langton et al. (2003) in some plant species increases in plant biomass production due to prolonged photoperiod result from actions related to increases in leaf area and chlorophyll (chl) content per unit of leaf area. However, increases in plant dry weight are unlikely to mirror precisely the observed increases in leaf greenness. For example, in kale (Brassica oleracea L. var. acephala D.C.) an increase in photoperiod resulted in increased pigment accumulation, but maximum concentrations of pigments were not required for maximum biomass production (Lefsrud et al. 2006). Plants from two groups of potato cultivars grown under continuous irradiation, which differed 10-fold in plant dry matter production did not differ significantly in leaf chl concentration (Cao and Tibbitts 1991). According to Solhaug (1991) an increase in plant leaf area is much more important than an increase in the chl content per unit leaf area for increasing light absorptance. Under conditions of Kola Peninsula (beyond the Arctic Circle) the most active chloroplasts in potato plants are those that are large, with loose structure and small osmiophilic granules. Plants with such chloroplasts have large leaf area and high dry matter production under conditions of long polar day and short growing season (Shahov 1965). It was shown by Miroslavov *et al.* (1998) that Arctic plants are often characterized by chloroplasts with deep invaginations or excrescences, more compact intracellular arrangement of plastids, larger number of mitochondria, more branched endoplasmic reticulum and numerous lipid vesicles.

The modifying influence of different growth factors, such as temperature, light intensity, CO₂ enrichment, water and fertilizer supply etc. under continuous lighting regime has been reported by many authors. It was shown for six grass species that LD without increase in daily photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) stimulated dry matter (DM) production most at low temperatures (Solhaug 1991). It was known that temperate grasses increase DM production in LD via increased leaf area ratio (LAR) which more than compensates for reduced net assimilation rate (NAR) in LD (Hay and Heide 1983; Solhaug 1991). Solhaug (1991) suggested the following mechanism of LD stimulation of DM production. Higher LAR in LD than in SD was mainly a result of the increased specific leaf area (SLA, leaf area per unit leaf dry weight) in LD, since leaf weight ratio (LWR, the proportion of DM allocated to the leaves) was almost unaffected by daylength. When SD-propagated plants are placed in LD, a rapid increase in SLA occurs. In addition, more assimilates are allocated to growth, which together with increasing SLA lead to increased leaf area in LD. Since the NAR is only slightly reduced, photosynthetic capacity per plant will increase. This creates a positive feedback system, since more assimilates will be available to leaf growth due to higher photosynthesis per plant.

Results of Masuda *et al.* (2006) indicated that the enhancement of dry mass production in pepper plants by overnight supplemental lighting is more profound when the daytime solar radiation is low. Kitaya *et al.* (1998) showed that at the same PPF, DM of lettuce plants was increased by 25% to 100% with 24-h photoperiod compared to 16-h. However, at the same daily light integral (DLI), the longer photoperiod (24 h vs 16 h) promoted growth of lettuce plug transplants under the low CO₂ concentration, but not under the high CO₂ concentration.

Manipulation by plant mineral nutrition was shown to be the possible way to increase yield under conditions of continuous lighting. Some cultivars of hard wheat did not yield a harvest under continuous light when provided by standard mineral nutrition. However, development of nutrient medium with increased concentrations of all nutrients and mixed nitrate and ammonia nitrogen allowed successful cultivation of wheat under continuous light (Lisovskij and Dolgushev 1986). The use of vermiculite substrate in combination with plant mineral nutrition varied during plant ontogeny stimulated significantly greenhouse production of some ornamental plants (calla lily (Zantedeschia aethiopica (L.) Spreng.), Barberton daisy (Gerbera jamesonii Bolus ex Hook.f.), Jersey lily (Alstroemeria spp.), amaryllis (Hippeastrum spp.), cucumber and tomato plants under conditions of polar day on Kola Peninsula (Russian Arctic) (Ivanova et al. 2006).

ASSIMILATE PARTITIONING UNDER CONTINUOUS LIGHT

Continuous light affects not only DM production but also the partitioning of DM within the plant. Thus, in six temperate grass species grown under continuous light more DM was allocated to leaf sheaths and stems than in SD, while more DM was allocated to the roots in SD. The greatest effect was found in smooth brome (*Bromus inermis* Leyss.) in which 24-h photoperiod more than doubled the proportion of DM in the leaf sheaths and stems, while reducing the proportion of DM in the roots by nearly 50% (Solhaug 1991). However, these findings do not support those of Hay and Heide (1983) who found that continuous light had very little influence upon the distribution of dry matter between culms, leaves and stolons in Kentucky bluegrass. Continuous light did not change partitioning of DM in wheat, barley, cucumber and soybean at early stages of development compared to other photoperiods (Markovskaja and Sysoeva 2004). In black currant (*Ribes nigrum* L.) continuous light favored accumulation of dry matter in leaves and stems, while 14-h photoperiod was preferred to root growth (Lisovskij and Dolgushev 1986).

In some experiments continuous light enhanced vegetative growth at the expense of reproductive growth. Thus, in peanut plants continuous light reduced pod and seed yield by delaying or decreasing assimilate partitioning to reproductive organs, which resulted in 94% lower harvest index compared to that of plants under 12-h photoperiod (Rowell *et al.* 1999). Similarly, vegetative mass of raspberry bushes was the greatest under continuous light, but fruit yield was twice lower compared the 13-15-h photoperiods (Moshkov 1987). In a greenhouse study aimed at increasing biomass partitioning to rice grain, plants were switched to continuous light after different periods of time under 8-h photoperiods. There was a positive correlation between the length of continuous light treatments and nongrain biomass, but grain yield did not increase in continuous light (Volk and Mitchell 1993).

The role of storage organs in the biomass partitioning within plants under continuous light remains unclear. For the understanding of source-sink interactions under continuous light the effect of increased source activity (i.e. photosynthesis - generated by a 24-h photoperiod) on two species of onion that differ in their sink capacity (bulbing vs. nonbulbing) was studied (Gestel et al. 2005). Plants showed a different response to photoperiod in biomass partitioning, such that over half of the biomass in both Allium species in the 12-h photoperiod was present as leaves, while in the 24h photoperiod up to 84% of total mass was present as bulbs. This is in accordance with research by Garner and Allard (1923) and Kato (1965), who reported that in onions SD promoted leaf growth, while LD stimulated bulb production, even when sucrose was injected into onion leaves. This suggests that carbohydrate accumulation promotes bulb development only when photoperiod exceeds a specific duration. Long photoperiods and high irradiances were also shown to increase the percentage of plant assimilates transferred to the radish storage organs. For radishes exposed to an irradiance of 113 W m² and a photoperiod of 24 h, almost 90% of the plant was storage organ (Craker *et al.* 1983). The production of early-season radish varieties decreased when the day length was extended from 12 to 24 h. They formed flower stalks, but did not form storage organs. On the contrary, full-season varieties had much higher production under continuous light by forming storage organs quicker (Lisovskij and Dolgushev 1986). In the experiments by Tihomirov et al. (1976) radish plants grown under continuous light provided by xenon lamps with PAR of 400-650 W m⁻² had very high production of storage organs, but the yield per unit of light energy was decreased considerably compared to other photoperiods. In experiments with turnip (Brassica rapa L. var. rapa (L.) Hartm.) (Akira et al. 1988) the greater plant biomass and storage root weight were obtained under 24-h photoperiod. Plant growth and accumulation of assimilates in storage roots were stimulated by higher irradiance and elevated CO₂ concentration under continuous light.

Quite the opposite assimilate distribution pattern was observed in plants under natural conditions of Kola Peninsula (Russian Arctic). Long photoperiods decreased the percentage of plant assimilates transferred to the sugar-beet storage organs, so that weight of leaves was twice as much as storage organ weight (Stanko 1965). Zhurbickij and Vartapetjan (1956) and Kisljakova (1965) have shown that long polar day and low irradiance are two main unfavourable factors for starch accumulation in potato tubers. However, these findings are in contrast with results obtained by Kardo-Sysoeva (1963) who came to a conclusion that the main cause of low starch content in potato tubers in Yamalo-Nenetsky region (western Siberia, Russia, the latitude of the Arctic Circle) is low soil temperature. Despite the fact that in experiments temperature increase affected positively starch synthesis is potato tubers under conditions of Kola Peninsula, all obtained experimental data gave grounds to Kisljakova (1965) to make conclusion on the leading role of light factor in starch accumulation.

Findings from controlled environment studies at NASA showed that despite the ability of some potato cultivars to grow and tuberize under continuous light, SD tendencies were still apparent. For example, harvest index, which is an indicator of the partitioning to tubers, was nearly always greatest under SD, and hence efficiencies for converting light into edible biomass were greatest under SD (Wheeler and Tibbitts 1986a; Wheeler et al. 1991). These observations suggested that yields might be optimized if strong induction could be combined with high total light. This idea was tested by moving plants between a 12 h light/12 h dark and a 24-h light environment at different stages of growth (Wheeler 2006). The results showed that at equal total irradiance, plants given SD early in growth followed by continuous light later in growth produced greater tuber yields than plants given continuous light followed by SD (Wheeler and Tibbitts 1997). This suggests that it is best to first establish strong tuber initiation and then follow with high total light to sustain bulking (Wheeler and Tibbitts 1997). In contrast to results obtained by Kisljakova (1965) in research by Wheeler et al. (1986) harvest index of potato plants decreased with increasing temperatures under continuous light. Their results showed that cooler temperatures could be used to offset the less inductive influence of a long photoperiod, i.e. under cooler temperatures the potato becomes less obligate for dark period stimulation of tuberization. Thus, the influence of continuous light or supplementary lighting seems important not only to enhance growth, but also to influence dry matter distribution to the fruits, flowers and storage organs, in order to produce a high yield.

PHOTOSYNTHESIS UNDER CONTINUOUS LIGHT

Findings in the literature on the long-term impact of continuous light on photosynthesis are quite contradictory. There are data testifying to the decrease of photosynthesis under continuous light. For example, Stutte et al. (1996) have shown that in potato plants grown under 24-h photoperiod, photosynthesis was 33% lower than in plants grown under 12-h photoperiod. The reduction in photosynthesis was attributed to high starch accumulation in leaves, suggesting that photosynthate production (i.e. source activity) was greater than photosynthate utilization (i.e. sink activity). Therefore, higher source activity relative than sink activity may have initiated the downregulation of photosynthesis at the protein or transcriptional level, thereby lowering the amount and/or activity of Rubisco. However, quite the opposite, Cao and Tibbitts (1991) showed that the lower net photosynthesis in potato plants grown under continuous light was not associated with an excess carbohydrate accumulation in the leaves. Moreover, cultivars differed in their physiological response to continuous irradiation and some cultivars did not demonstrate decreased CO₂ assimilation. The inhibition of net CO₂ assimilation in stunted plants was not also due to a limiting amount of chl or to CO_2 in the leaf tissues. Wheeler and Tibbitts (1986a) suggest that intolerant to continuous light potato varieties are incapable of sustaining continuous photosynthetic activity, while the tolerant varieties are capable of sustaining the activity. In tests with potato, in which the photoperiod was changed from 12 h to 24 h, photosynthetic rate dropped immediately following the change to continuous light as a result of some 'scorching' of the upper canopy leaves (Wheeler 2006). It is of interest to note the slight negative effect of elevated CO₂ on net photosynthesis rates observed in some potato cultivars (Wheeler and Tibbitts 1989; Cao et al. 1994). Total plant biomass and tuber yields showed similar trends, where

elevated CO_2 and increased PAR increased yields under a 12-h photoperiod, but had only a slight or even negative effect under continuous light (Wheeler *et al.* 1991). Wheeler and Tibbitts (1989) offered as possible explanation for this that the use of continuous lighting at 450 µmol s⁻¹ m⁻² may already be 'pushing' the potato plants to their maximum growth potential. Models of tuber yield developed by Yandell *et al.* (1988) predicted little advantage from CO_2 enrichment under continuous light when irradiance levels exceed 500 µmol s⁻¹ m⁻² PPF. It is possible that assimilation rates in potato leaves were suppressed by some photosynthetic feedback inhibition under continuous lighting and high CO_2 (Wheeler and Tibbitts 1989).

The use of continuous light caused a reduction of the photosysnthesis rate in photoperiod-sensitive tomato, but did not affect photosynthesis rates in less-photoperiod-sensitive sweet pepper (Demers 1998). Demers and Gosselin (2002) suggest that the increased accumulation of starch generates, by a feedback effect, an overload of the Calvin cycle, which gradually causes the decrease of the CO_2 fixation rate. Demers *et al.* (1995) have reported that pepper plants were less-efficient than tomato plants in using light for CO_2 fixation, but were more efficient in dissipating the extra energy received. This may explain why pepper plants, although both species are of the *Solanaceae* family and require similar conditions.

Gestel *et al.* (2005) in order to test whether photosynthesis downregulation occurs due to carbohydrate feedback used onions that differed in bulb-forming capacity. In *Allium fistulosum*, a non-bulbing onion, photosynthetic downregulation was observed under continuous light as indicated by reductions in the light- and CO₂-saturated photosynthetic capacity, reduced maximum rate of carboxylation by Rubisco, reduced maximum rate of electron transport and 3fold higher foliar sugar concentration. In contrast, the photosynthetic and biochemical capacity of *Allium cepa*, a bulb-forming onion, was not affected by exposure to 24-h photoperiod, presumably because substantial amounts of foliar carbohydrates were re-allocated to bulbs. Thus, carbohydrate concentration may not fully be responsible for regulating photosynthesis.

Foliar nitrogen may also be a key regulator of photosynthesis. In experiments by Gestel et al. (2005) in both Allium species, 24-h plants had much lower N levels compared with 12-h plants. Usung N as a quantitative measure of Rubisco content suggests that Rubisco levels for borth Allium species in 24-h plants are much lower than in 12-h plants. However, Rubisko activity was only reduced in A. fistulosum and not in A. cepa. Therefore, reduced Rubisco activity, potentially initiated by higher foliar carbohydrate concentration in A. fistulosum, could have been primarily responsible for the observed photosynthetic downregulation (Gestel et al. 2005). This is consistent with Paul and Fover (2001) who stated that when carbohydrate levels reached a threshold, downregulation of photosynthesis was initiated to rebalance the source-sink ratio. The formation of a storage organ enabled A. cepa to balance its source-sink ratio to a greater degree than A. fistulosum, thereby maintaining Rubisco activity at similar levels to A. cepa in the 12-h photoperiod (Gestel et al. 2005).

Lower net photosynthetic rate of peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) plants grown under 24-h photoperiod compared to 12-h photoperiod coupled with the lower stomatal conductance (Rowell *et al.* 1999) suggesting that plant may have been sufficiently stressed to cause a partial closure of the stomates, thereby influencing the gas exchange rates of these plants. However, carbon fixation efficiency was significantly lower among plants grown under 12-h light period. The decrease reflected a probable diversion of the Rubisco enzyme from oxygenation to carboxylation in plants grown under continuous light.

Research conducted in the Arctic under natural conditions of continuous light have shown that plants there utilize solar energy of a wider spectrum range (Shahov 1965) and

the findings regarding photosynthetic activity of plants are quite contradictory to those obtained in greenhouse research. Thus, there are reports that under conditions of Kola Peninsula photosynthesis may measure up to very high values, up to 40-80 mg CO_2^{14} per dm² h in barley, wheat, radish and some wild plants. Net photosynthesis of 7-8 g DM per m² day was reported for potato (Shahov 1965). Under natural conditions at high latitudes photosynthesis may occur at lower light intensities providing greater DM accumulation per day due to longer photoperiod (Shul'gin 1973). Continuous light ensures positive leaf net CO2 flux over the entire 24-h photoperiod in plants both under natural conditions (Shvecova and Voznesenskij 1970; Luk'janova et al. 1986) and in greenhouses (Afanasjeva 1970). The lack of diurnal rhythm in photosynthesis under continuous light was reported for Benjamin Fig, although it was found under 18-h photoperiod, indicating that the plant benefits from continuous light. Indeed, dry weight increased progressively with increasing lighting periods between 16, 20 and 24 h day⁻¹ in this species (Mortensen 1992). More studies focused on how the photoperiod affects the carbon metabolism of plants, which could be linked to development of negative effects on plants grown under continuous light are needed in order to confirm the hypotheses advanced.

LEAF PIGMENT CONTENT UNDER CONTINUOUS LIGHT

The effect of photoperiod on leaf pigment content is varied. For example, Fukuda et al. (2000) found that additions of night supplemental lighting increased chl concentrations in lettuce, pakchoi (Brassica rapa L. subsp. chinensis P. Hanelt) and tsukena (Brassica rapa L., subsp. campestris A.R. Clapham), but this was not found to be the case by Solhaug (1991) who reported that plants of four temperate grass cultivars cultivated in SD (8 h) contained about 50% more chl per unit leaf area or fresh weight than plants cultivated under 24-h photoperiod. However, Solhaug (1991) came to the conclusion that the reduction of chl content per unit leaf area in plants cultivated under continuous light per se seems not to be the mechanism causing reduced photosynthetic rate of high-latitude grasses in LD. Increasing the day-extension lighting from 16 h to 24 h gave no further intensification of greenness in four bedding plant species: geranium, impatiens (Impatiens walleriana Hooker), pansy and petunia (Petunia x hybrida (Hooker) Vilmorin) (Langton et al. 2003). In tomato and pepper plants, foliar chl content was negatively correlated to lengthening of the photoperiod (Dorais 1992). Lower foliar chl as determined on a dry weight basis, was measured in tomato plants cultivated under a 24-h photoperiod (Bradley and Janes 1985). However, when the chl content of leaves was calculated on a leaf area basis, no significant difference was found between photoperiods of 12 h and 24 h. Despite the development of visible mottled chlorosis soon after exposure of tomato plants to continuous light, pigment levels were not measurably lower than those of controls grown under a 12-h photoperiod until injury was quite severe, indicating that pigment levels in green areas of the leaf compensated for pigment losses in chlorotic areas (Globig et al. 1997). With respect to electron transport capacity through photosystems, activities per unit of chl in photosystem II (PSII) and photosystem I (PSI) of tomato plants and PSI of pepper were not affected by photoperiodic treatments, while PSII activity in pepper increased under continuous lighting (Dorais 1992). Photosystem activity in tomato plants correlated positively to chl content of leaves, while this relationship was not found in pepper plants. This explains why, unlike pepper plants, PSII and PSI activities of tomato plants correlated negatively with extension of the photoperiod. Under continuous light, a decrease in the photosynthetic rate was measured in tomato plants, while it increased in pepper plants. No significant correlation was found in either species between photosynthetic rate and leaf chl content or photosystem activity. Both tomato and pepper plants adapt to continuous light by modifying the distribution of chl among the photosystems and altering the size of photosystems. In tomato plants, these photo-adaptation phenomena are actually an increase in the proportion of chl associated with PSII compared with PSI and a decrease in the size of PSI following reduction in the size of its antenna (LHCPI). In pepper plants, a reduction in the size of PSII was compensated by an increased activity (Dorais 1992). Dorais (1992) concluded that reduced efficiency of tomato plants in benefiting from long photoperiods is not due to a lower capacity of electron transport through the photosystems caused by photoinhibition, but rather to restrictions in the carbon metabolism, which in turn leads to partial photooxidation of the chl and is perhaps responsible for development of foliar chlorosis.

The research into the effect of continuous light on carotenoid accumulation is limited in higher plants. Lefsrud et al. (2006) reported maximum accumulation of lutein and β carotene occured in kale under the 24-h photoperiod. Continuous light caused reductions in carotene and xanthophylls content in tomato and sweet pepper plants (Demers 1998). Leaf chlorosis and loss of pigments were more important and occurred earlier in tomato plants than in sweet pepper. Compared to sweet pepper plants, EPS ration (epoxidation state of the pigments of the xanthophylls cycle) was lower in tomato, indicating a greater need for energy dissipation and a more important state of stress caused by excessive light. Pigments such as carotene and xanthophylls play a significant role in the protection of the photosynthetic apparatus against damage that could be caused by an excess of light. Carotene and xanthophylls levels were higher in sweet pepper plants than in tomato. Thus, sweet pepper has a better protection against the degradation of chl, which would explain why leaf chlorosis appeared later and were less severe in sweet pepper (Demers and Gosselin 2002).

PHYSIOLOGICAL DISORDERS UNDER CONTINUOUS LIGHT

Daily timing of supplementary lighting can be manipulated to maximize crop response and therefore it is widely used in greenhouse production (Costes and Milhet 1970; Koontz and Prince 1986; Logendra et al. 1990; Moe 1997). Under extended photoperiods, however, many sensitive species tend to develop important physiological disorders. The decreased ability to utilize supplemental lighting is associated, notably, with the appearance of intervascular chlorosis. Light injury symptoms caused by exposing plants to continuous light were reported for several species including tomato (Hillman 1956; Bradley and Janes 1985; Vézina et al. 1991; Warrington and Norton 1991; Cushman et al. 1995; Murage et al. 1996), coleus (Solenostemon scutellarioides (L.) Codd), chrysanthemum (Warrington and Norton 1991), eggplant (Murage et al. 1996), potato (Wheeler and Tibbitts 1986a; Tibbitts et al. 1990; Cao and Tibbitts 1992; Stutte et al. 1996), radish (Craker et al. 1983; Warrington and Norton 1991), cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walp.) (Ohler and Mitchell 1996), onion (Gestel *et al.* 2005), cucumber (Wolff and Langerud 2006), geranium, cotton, buckwheat (Fagopyrum esculentum Moench.) (Arthur and Harvill 1937). In contrast, some other plants do not appear to suffer from leaf injury under continuous light. This was reported for lettuce (Craker et al. 1983; Kitaya et al. 1998), sweet pepper (Murage and Masuda 1997), rise (Volk and Mitchell 1993), peanut (Rowell et al. 1999), Kentucky bluegrass (Hay 1990), meadow foxtail (Alopecurus pratensis L.), Hungarian brome (Bromus inermis Leyss.), cocksfoot grass (Dactylis glomerata L.), meadow fescue (Festuca pratensis Huds.), timothy (Phleum pretense L.) (Solhaug 1991), soybean (Davydenko et al. 2004), wheat, barley, millet, pea, alfalfa, sunflower (Lisovskij and Dolgishev 1986), kale (Lefsrud et al. 2006), turnip (Akira et al. 1988), roses (Jiao et al. 1991). Different potato cultivars have been found to vary widely in their response to continuous irradiance. Some

of cultivars grew well and had better production under continuous irradiation, whereas other cultivars showed adverse growth responses developing brown and black flecking on the plant leaves initially and chlorosis and necrotic lesions as the plants aged (Wheeler and Tibbitts 1986a; Tibbitts *et al.* 1994). Wheeler (2006) noted that not surprisingly cultivars selected for high latitudes were more tolerant to long photoperiods. Similarly, cultivars of loose-leaf lettuce differed in respect of developing physiological disorders under continuous light (Koonts and Prince 1986).

In addition to duration of lighting per day, other aspects of light energy, such as light quality and quantity also play roles in the development of the effects of continuous light. Thus, the severety of leaf chlorosis in tomato and pepper plants caused by continuous light varied with the type of lamps (high pressure sodium versus metal halide) used to provide supplemental light and was modified by the presence or absence of natural light (Demers 1998; Demers and Gosselin 2002). The addition of far-red light as supplement to the white light greatly reduced light injury symptoms on tomato leaves caused by the white light (Globig et al. 1997). Differences in the severity of the foliar chlorosis were observed depending on the type of lamps used to grow eggplants (Murage et al. 1997), geranium, cotton, buckwheat (Arthur and Harvill 1937) under continuous light. The extent of the leaf injury under continuous illumination was strongly influenced by the daily quantity of light received by the plants. It was shown for eggplant (Murage et al. 1997), lettuce seedlings (Oda et al. 1989) and Arabidopsis (Massa et al. 2007) that the degree of leaf injury was positively correlated to the increase in the photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD) under continuous illumination. However, Murage et al. (1997) clearly indicated the predominant effect of the photoperiod over light quantity on the induction of the leaf injury.

Even though it has been known for a long time that exposing some plants to 24-h photoperiod causes the development of leaf chlorosis and growth reductions, the cause of these problems remains unclear. A short review on the factors possibly involved in the development of the negative effects of long photoperiods on tomato and sweet pepper plants was published by Demers and Gosselin (1999). It was suggested (Bradley and Janes 1985; Logendra et al. 1990; Dorais 1992) that the starch and soluble sugar accumulations in leaves of tomato plants could be related to the development of the leaf chlorosis under continuous light. Studies on some other species support the hypothesis of a relationship between leaf chlorosis development and starch accumulations. For example, continuous light caused increased leaf starch and hexose accumulations and leaf chlorosis of eggplants (Murage et al. 1996). However, eggplants growing under continuous light but in a CO₂-free atmosphere for 12 h per day accumulated less starch and hexoses, and did not develop leaf chlorosis. There are indications that accumulations of starch and soluble sugars are not caused by a limiting sink capacity. Demers et al. (1998a) concluded that if leaf photosynthate accumulation is related to leaf chlorosis and decreased growth and yields, it is possibly the inability of the leaf to export photosynthates out of the leaf that is the liming factor.

In tomato, the use of continuous light caused, in addition to the foliar chlorosis and increased foliar contents in starch and hexoses, a reduction of the photosynthesis rate and of the activity of the sucrose phosphate synthase (SPS) enzyme (Demers 1998). The reduction of SPS activity occurred in 2-4 weeks after the increase in starch and hexoses. It is, thus, impossible that the reduction of the SPS activity is responsible for these accumulations. However, Demers and Gosselin (2002) suggest that it is possible that the SPS activity *in vivo* is limiting, which would explain the hexose increase. This suggests the limiting step of the export of photosynthases in the synthesis of sucrose and would explain the absence of growth and the productivity increase under continuous light. Furthermore, the increased hexose levels in the cytoplasm, by a feedback effect, would limit

the export of the triosephosphate (photosynthesis products) out of the chloroplast, which would then be redirected towards starch synthesis, thus explaining the increased starch contents. Moreover, the increased accumulation of starch would generate, by a feedback effect, an overload of the Calvin cycle, which would gradually cause the observed decrease of the CO₂ fixation rate. Are the starch accumulations responsible for the leaf chlorosis in tomato? It is possible that the overload imposed on the Calvin cycle (decreased photosynthesis) could limit the use of the reducing potential (ATP, NADPH) produced by the luminous phase of photosynthesis, thus causing an overload on the electron transport chain and the photo-oxidation of the chl (decrease in the leaf chl contents), and thus explaining the observed leaf foliar chlorosis. Transgenic tomato plants (overexpressing SPS) that have higher photosynthesis rates and accumulate less starch and more sucrose than non-transformed plants (Galtier et al. 1993, 1995; Micallef et al. 1995) could be used in future studies to test if accumulations of starch in leaves are responsible for the development of chlorosis observed in plants exposed to continuous light (Demers and Gosselin 2002). In sweet pepper, the use of continuous light caused an increase in the leaf starch and sucrose contents, but did not affect leaf hexose contents, photosynthesis rates and SPS activity (Demers 1998). The increased foliar contents in sucrose indicate that SPS activity in sweet pepper is not limiting as in tomato. Increased accumulation of starch in sweet pepper plants exposed to continuous light would be explained by the fact that continuous light results in a longer period of time over which starch synthesis occur, but without overloading the starch synthesis pathway. Thus, starch accumulation in sweet pepper under continuous light would not be important enough to cause a reduction in CO₂ fixation (no overload of the Calvin cycle). Increased leaf contents in sucrose suggest that sucrose export would be possibly limiting. This would explain why the growth and the productivity of the sweet pepper plants do not increase under continuous light. Moreover, compared to tomato, higher levels of carotene and xanthophylls in pepper leaves probably provided a better protection of the photosynthetic apparatus against excessive light, plus preventing the destruction of chl and development of leaf chlorosis in pepper (Demers and Gosselin 2002).

The results for leaf starch content in cucumber exposed to continuous light in the study by Wolff and Langerud (2006) gave no support to the hypothesis that it is hyperaccumulation of starch that causes leaf injuries and lower plant production under continuous light. However, they admitted that leaf sampling and analysis were performed at a rather late stage in injury development and nothing was known about the starch status previous to visible symptoms. In two groups of potato cultivars (those that are stunted and injured by constant light and those that grow well) the lower net CO_2 assimilation rates in stunted plants were not associated also with an excess carbohydrate accumulation in the leaves (Cao and Tibbitts 1991).

Dorais et al. (1995) reported that under continuous light, the situations might happen when photosynthesis efficiency is reduced while interception of the incoming light continues unabated. It is therefore, possible that a direct leakage of electrons to molecular oxygen occurs, enhancing the generation of toxic oxygen species. This can damage the ultrastructure and function of chloroplasts, and photosynthetic pigments leading to leaf chlorosis (Foyer et al. 1994). Thus, it was hypothesized that the leaf injury observed under continuous light in sensitive species is attributed to photooxidative stress. From the results of Murage and Masuda (1997), it emerged quite clearly that continuous light triggers photooxidative damage in eggplant as evidenced by the incidence of chlorosis, decreased chl and the synchronized increases of superoxide dismutase (SOD), peroxidase (POD) and catalase (CAT) activities. On the other hand, pepper plants did not appear to suffer from photooxidative damage and thus grew normally under continuous illumination. Continuous light did not enhance the activities of SOD and POD in leaves of pepper, but the CAT activity was significantly higher in pepper than in eggplants. These results are supported by Masuda et al. (2002) who also suggested that the superoxide radical is associated with light-induced leaf injury in eggplants. However, there are reports in the literature that argue that the light leaf injury observed under continuous light is correlated to photooxidative damage. Thus, Gestel at al. (2005) reported that leaf necrosis and chlorosis exhibited in both bulbing and nonbulbing onion species in the 24-h photoperiod was not due to photodamage, because photosynthetic light compensation point was higher in both species exposed to continuous light, which suggests that plants grown in 24-h photoperiod were less efficient using absorbed light at low irradiance and had acclimated to a high light environment. The excess light energy would then be expected to be utilized in generating oxygen radicals, leading to the subsequent photooxidation of plant pigments (Foyer et al. 1994).

Interesting results obtained Cushman and Tibbitts (1996) that potato cultivar 'Kennebec', which severely injured by constant light when propagated from tissue-cultured plantlets, also was injured when plants were propagated from small tubers pieces (approximately 1 g). However, plants did not develop injury when propagated from large tuber pieces (approximately 100 g). Authors suggested that plant vigor and carbohydrate translocation play role in controlling injury development. Cushman and Tibbitts (1998) also noted that in many ways the injury of plants grown under continuous irradiation and constant temperature resembles the effects of ethylene exposure: leaf abscission, chlorosis, reduced leaf area, and increased leaf thickness. Studies on potato and tomato (Cushman and Tibbitts 1998; Jensen and Veierskov 1998; Wheeler et al. 2004) support the hypothesis that ethylene metabolism is one of the possible mechanisms by which plants are injured by continuous irradiation, but the casual chains are so far not elucidated.

It was shown on tomato plants that that growth and yields reductions as well as leaf chloroses observed under continuous light have not been related to mineral nutrition problems (Withrow and Withrow 1949; Demers et al. 1998a). However, there are reports on some success in improving appearance of plants grown under 24-h photoperiod by increasing fertilization. Thus, increased liquid fertilization reduced the purpling of leaves of Arabidopsis plants grown under continuous light (Massa et al. 2007). Leaf necrosis that developed at the high PPFD in lettuce leaves was partly alleviated by adding more nitrogen to the nutrient solution (Koontz and Prince 1986). High concentration of calcium reduced leaf chlorosis and increased fruit yield in mini-cucumber production under supplemental lighting (Hao et al. 2009). In the same study, adding blue light alleviated leaf chlorosis symptom but did not further improve mini-cucumbers fruit yield compared to high pressure sodium lihjting along (Hao et al. 2009).

It was reported long ago that light injury was reduced at low temperatures (Roodenburg 1940; Withrow and Withrow 1949). Daily temperature alternations has been shown to be effective in preventing physiological disorders in plants and inhibition of growth caused by continuous daily light periods (Hillman 1956; Went 1957; Kristofferson 1963; Tibbitts et al. 1990; Omura et al. 2001). As early as in the 1930s Bünning (1931) showed that, under continuous light, scarlet runner (Phaseolus multiflorus L.) plants subjected to variable temperature regime had much less severe leaf chlorosis compared to those subjected to a constant temperature regime. Later Hillman (1956) and Kristofferson (1963) observed that not all variable temperature regimes are equally effective in preventing physiological disorders in tomato plants caused by continuous light, but day/night differential should be of 8-10°C or greater. It was suggested that for a plant previously exposed to high temperature, a low temperature light period is equivalent to a dark period as far as photoperiodically-sensitive system is concerned. But, since several experiments showed that this apparent

equivalence of low temperature light with darkness no longer holds in an injurious alternating light-dark schedule, this simple hypothesis was abandoned, and temperature change regarded as the significant factor in preventing injury. Recently the interest of researches to the potential use of a 24h photoperiod with alternating air temperatures for plant production in closed systems has increased. Ohyama et al. (2005b) have shown that physiological disorders (chlorosis and/or necrosis) were not observed under the 24-h photoperiod in tomato plants grown at alternating air temperatures of 28/16°C. In our studies we observed that daily short-term exposures of cucumber plants to low temperature (12°C) decreased the severity of chlorosis caused by continuous light (unpublished data). The results obtained from the study by Tibbitts et al. (1990) on potato cultivars show that temperature fluctuations under constant irradiation have promotive effect, not only on shoot growth and dry matter accumulation, but also on tuberization in some potato cultivars indicating that the injury to potato plants grown under constant irradiation and temperature is not simply a light response, as shown by the lack of injury under fluctuating temperatures. It supports the conclusion made by Wheeler and Tibbitts (1986b) that potato plants injury by constant light is not photoperiodic in nature, as shown by the lack of injury under the dim daylength extension treatments. This is consistent with the effective growth of potatoes in the field plantings in northern latitudes under LD, for these areas always have some diurnal temperature fluctuation during the growth period (Garner and Allard 1923; Pohjakallio 1953).

Murage *et al.* (1997) showed that the temperature cycle under continuous illumination had a big influence on the leaf carbon metabolism in eggplant. In a non-injurious temperature cycle of $28/15^{\circ}$ C, the accumulation of starch, sucrose, glucose and fructose was significantly reduced compared with the injurious temperature regimes of 25/25 and $25/20^{\circ}$ C. This suggested that the CO₂ assimilation must have been drastically checked during the period of low temperature. At the same time, it is also possible that the metabolism of starch and sugars into other metabolites and their subsequent translocation from the leaves might have been enhanced greatly at $28/15^{\circ}$ C.

It is clearly shown that the leaf injury under continuous irradiation is not simply a light response alone, but a result of a strong interaction between the light period, quality and quantity on the one hand, and on the other, the thermoperiod and that they exert their effects on the photosynthetic activity and subsequently the carbon metabolism (Murage et al. 1997). However, it is still not clear whether the adverse effects of these factors during induction and expression of the leaf injury are a manifestation of the buildup of carbohydrates, particularly starch, in the chloroplasts leading to the systematic destruction of chl as proposed by Bradley and Janes (1985) or a culmination of the activities of other processes such as photooxidative damage to the leaf pigments (Wise and Naylor 1987). Thus, further investigations are required in order to elucidate the causative mechanism.

Pettersen et al. (2006) found that a variation in the air humidity can counteract the negative effect of continuous lighting on the keeping quality of roses. The reduction in the keeping quality of roses caused by continuous lighting is related to malfunctioning stomata and excessive water loss in indoor conditions (Mortensen and Fjeld 1998; Mortensen and Gislerød 1999). However, it was found that a daily 6-h period with low air humidity was sufficient to enhance considerably the vase life of roses under continuous lighting as compared to constant high air humidity (Pettersen et al. 2006). The result was explained by the fact that leaves developing at high relative air humidity (RH) failed to respond to post-production conditions as leaves were unable to close their stomata and therefore control water loss. However, plants grown under conditions inducing daily stomatal closure, caused by a period of low RH, were able to close their stomata, which indicates that continuous lighting does not disable stomata (Mortensen and Fjeld 1998; Mortensen and Gislerød 1999; Pettersen *et al.* 2006). In practice, during mild weather periods in spring and autumn it can be difficult to change the vapor pressure deficit (vpd) much by ventilation. Pettersen *et al.* (2007) showed that periodical diurnal temperature variations (between 21 and 27°C) which change vpd were equally effective as a drop in RH at constant temperature for avoiding stomata malfunction of roses grown under continuous lighting.

Continuous lighting of roses is desirable since dark periods are known to enhance the development of powdery mildew (Mortensen and Braut 1998) that is particularly troublesome in greenhouse production of hybrid roses. Studies by Mortensent and Gislerød (2005), Mortensen et al. (2007), Pettersen et al. (2006) and Suthaparan et al. (2010) indicated that severity of powdery mildew was strongly reduced on roses grown under continuous lighting compared with day lengths of 16 h and 18 h. Authors recommend increased day length as an important control measure to decrease powdery mildew in roses. This practice is currently being implemented among Norwegian rose growers. Furthermore, evidence was also found that very low light intensities seem necessary to suppress the fungus (A. Suthaparan, unpublished data). Light-emitting diode (LED) technology is currently developing rapidly, and, in the future, it may be possible to manipulate day length and light qualities with low-energy LED lamps with the purpose of controlling or delaying powdery mildew epidemics (Suthaparan et al. 2010). It was reported (Moshkov 1987) that 24-h photoperiod similarly prevented infection of black currant bushes by teliospores of rust fungi, while 100% of plants were infected under 13-14-h photoperiod. The effect of dark period on the development of diseases was probably related to a drop in air/plant temperature followed by a rise in air humidity. Further studies are necessary to clarify the practical impact of continuous lighting as a tool to improve keeping quality of plants in commercial production.

CONCLUSION

Studies of plant growth and development under continuous light are of current importance as adequate guide-lines for suitable timing, irradiance, spectral energy distribution of the lamps and seasonal use of supplementary lighting for the production of greenhouse crops, transplant production in closed controlled environment systems, the culture of plants in controlled ecological life support systems and in vitro production systems require a great amount of knowledge about different crops including their responses to duration of lighting per day. The continuous lighting was found to give benefits to some tolerant crops, which do not develop leaf injuries and can take advantage of the extra light energy provided by continuous lighting. If 24-h photoperiod does not cause adverse effects prolonged low supplementary lighting is often more effective than providing the same light integral at higher rates for shorter periods. The use of a 24-h photoperiod with relatively low PPF was shown to have the benefit of reducing both initial and operational costs for transplant production. However, more research is needed to clarify the practical impact of continuous lighting as a tool to improve post-transplant production and keeping quality of plants. Growing of plants under continuous light may increase yield, but it also increases light energy input per unit biomass produced. Therefore for each particular case the compromise is to be found, especially when planning is to be made for bioregenerative life support systems for space. The use of low PPF has to be a viable alternative when dealing with the low energy constraints.

Due to its ability to accelerate reproductive cycle continuous light was shown to be a useful tool for the breeders of some LD crops as it provides the possibility to obtain several generations of plants in the winter period and ensures more uniform material in respect of developmental rate, time of flowering, leafness etc. compared to shorter photoperiods. For some crops combinations of continuous light followed or preceded by short or long photoperiods depending on plant sensitivity were found to be favorable.

Despite quite a lot of research having been conducted on the influence of long photoperiods on plant growth and development, there is no universal agreement among authors as to the mechanisms involved in the plant response to continuous light and the exact cause of negative effects of continuous light (foliar chlorosis, limited or reduced plant growth and productivity) still remains to be elucidated. It is not clear whether the starch accumulations are responsible for the leaf chlorosis or the light leaf injury observed under continuous light is correlated to photooxidative damage, production of stress ethylene or another processes. The indications are of great interest that plant injury by constant light is not photoperiodic in nature, as shown by the lack of injury under the dim daylength extension treatments and that the injury to plants grown under constant irradiation and temperature is not simply a light response, as shown by the lack of injury under fluctuating temperatures. New research should be undertaken in order to look further into the impact of temperature regimes (day/night differential, temperature drop) on photosynthesis, carbon metabolism and leaf pigment content of plants grown under continuous light. Besides, other growth factors, such as light intensity, light quality, CO₂ enrichment, water and fertilizer supply have been reported to have the modifying influence on the effects of continuous lighting. More research are needed to identify the exact causes of negative effects of continuous light on plants and find possible measures preventing physiological disorders in plants caused by continuous daily light periods.

Knowledge on plant growth and development under continuous light can also provide us with better understanding of plant adaptations in the Arctic under conditions of the polar day.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors gratefully acknowledge that this review has been written with financial support from Russian Foundation for Basic Research (projects 07-04-00063, 08-04-98833, 10-04-00097).

REFERENCES

* In Russian

- Adams SR, Langton FA (2005) Photoperiod and plant growth: A review. Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology 80, 2-10
- Akira I, Shigeki N, Yoshiaki K, Kazutoshi Y (1988) Effect of photoperiod, light intensity and CO₂ concentration of photosynthesis in turnip. *Environment Control in Biology* 26 (3), 113-117 (in Japanese, English abstract)
- Arthur JM, Harvill EK (1937) Plant growth under continuous illumination from sodium vapor lamps supplemented by mercury arc lamps. *Contributions* from the Boyce Thompson Institute 8, 433-443
- Berry GJ, Aitken Y (1979) Effect of photoperiod and temperature on flowering in pea (Pisum sativum L.). Australian Journal of Plant Physiology 6, 573-587
- Bradley FM, Janes HW (1985) Carbon partitioning in tomato leaves exposed to continuous light. *Acta Horticulturae* **174**, 293-302
- Bünning E (1931) Untersuchungen uber die autonomen tagesperiodischen Bewegungen der Primarblatten von Phaseolus multiflorus. Jahrbücher für wissenchaftiche Botanik 75, 439-480
- Cao W, Tibbitts TW (1991) Physiological responses in potato plants under continuous irradiation. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science* 116 (3), 525-527
- Cao W, Tibbitts TW (1992) Temperature cycling periods affect growth and tuberization in potatoes under continuous light. *Horticultural Science* 27, 344-345
- Cao W, Tibbitts TW, Wheeler RM (1994) Carbon dioxide interactions with irradiance and temperature in potatoes. Advances in Space Research 14, 243-250
- **Costes C, Milhet** Y (1970) Étude photophysiologique du poivron: effets de la lumière artificielle et du gaz carbonique sur la croissance et sur la production de fruits sous serre, INRA, Versailles, France, 45 pp
- Craker LE, Seibert M (1982) Light energy requirements for controlled environment growth of lettuce and radish. *Transactions of the ASAE* 25, 214-216
- Craker LE, Seibert M, Clifford JT (1983) Growth and development of radish (*Raphanus sativus* L.) under selected light environments. *Annals of Botany* 51, 59-64
- Cushman KE, Tibbitts TW (1996) Size of tuber propagule influences injury of

'Kennebec' potato plants by constant light. *Horticultural Science* **31** (7), 1164-1166

- Cushman KE, Tibbitts TW (1998) The role of ethylene in the development of constant-light injury of potato and tomato. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science* **123** (2), 239-245
- Cushman KE, Tibbitts TW, Sharkey TD, Wise RR (1995) Constant-light injury of tomato: Temporal and spatial patterns of carbon dioxide assimilation, starch content, chloroplast integrity, and nectrotic lesions. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science* **120**, 1032-1040
- Davydenko OG, Zhmurko VV, Goloenko DV, Rozenzveig VE, Shablinskaja OV (2004) Izuchenie fotoperiodizma rannespelyh sortov soi. Selekcija I nasinnictvo 88, 151-162*
- Demers DA (1998) Physiologie, photosynthèse et métabolisme carboné de plants de tomate (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill.) et de poivron (*Capsicum annuum* L.) cultivés sous de longues photoperiods. PhD thesis, Université Laval, Ste-Foy, Québec, Canada, 98 pp
- Demers DA, Gosselin A (1999) Supplemental lighting of greenhouse vegetables: limitations and problems related to long photoperiods. Acta Horticulturae 481, 469-473
- **Demers DA, Gosselin A** (2002) Growing greenhouse tomato and sweet pepper under supplemental lighting: optimal photoperiod, negative effects of long photoperiod and their causes. *Acta Horticulturae* **580**, 83-88
- **Demers DA, Dorais M, Wien HC, Gosselin A** (1998a) Effects of supplemental light duration on greenhouse tomato (*Lycopersicon exculentum* Mill.) plants and fruit yields. *Scientia Horticulturae* **74**, 295-306
- Demers DA, Dubé S, Yelle S, Gosselin A (1995) Effects of continuous lighting and light spectral composition on photosynthesis and related processes of greenhouse-grown tomato and pepper plants. *Horticultural Science* 30, 195-914
- Demers DA, Wien HC, Gosselin A (1998b) Effects of supplemental light duration on greenhouse sweet pepper plants and fruit yields. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science* **123** (2), 202-207
- **Dorais M** (1992) Aspects culturaux et physiologiques de la tomate et du poivron de serre soumis à un éclairage d'appoint. PhD thesis, Faculté des Études Supérieures, Université Laval, Québec, Canada, 172 pp
- Dorais M, Carpentier R, Yelle S, Gosselin A (1995) Adaptability of tomato and pepper leaves to changes in photoperiod: Effects on the composition and function of the thylakoid membrane. *Physiologia Plantarum* 94, 692-700
- Foyer CH, Lelandais M, Kunert KJ (1994) Photooxidative stress in plants. *Physiologia Plantarum* 92, 696-717
- Fukuda N, Suzuki K, Ikeda H (2000) Effects of supplemental lighting from 23:00 to 7:00 on growth of vegetables cultured by NFT. *Journal of the Japa*nese Society for Horticultural Science 69 (1), 76-83
- Galtier N, Foyer CH, Huber J, Voelker TA, Huber SC (1993) Effects of elevated sucrose-phosphate synthase activity on photosynthesis and assimilate partitioning and growth in tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* var UC82B). *Plant Physiology* 101, 535-543
- Galtier N, Foyer CN, Murchie E, Alred R, Quick P, Voelker TA, Thépenier C, Lascève G, Betsche T (1995) Effects of light and atmospheric carbon dioxide enrichment on photosynthesis and carbon partitioning in the leaves of tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* L.) plants over-expressing sucrose phosphate synthase. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 46, 1335-1344
- Garner WW, Allard HA (1923) Further studies of photoperiodism. The response of plant to relative length of day and night. *Journal of Agricultural Research* 23, 871-920
- Gestel NC, Nesbit AD, Gordon EP, Green C, Pare PW, Thompson L, Peffley EB, Tissue DT (2005) Continuous light may induce photosynthetic downregulation in onion – consequences for growth and biomass partitioning. *Physiologia Plantarum* 125, 235-246
- Gislerød HR, Eidsten IM, Mortensen LM (1989) The interaction of daily lighting period and light intensity on growth of some greenhouse plants. *Scientia Horticulturae* 38, 295-304
- Globig S, Rosen I, Janes HW (1997) Continuous light effects on photosynthesis and carbon metabolism in tomato. Acta Horticulturae 418, 141-152
- Gvozdeva SN (1981) Kul'tivirovanie rastenij podsolnechnika v uslovijah fitotrona s cel'ju uskorenija selekcionnogo processa. VNIIMK, Krasnodar*
- Handling Arabidopsis Plants and Seeds (2004) ABRC webpage, Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, USA. Available online:
- http://www.biosci.ohiostate.edu/pcmb/Facilities/abrc/handling.htm
- Hao X, Zheng J, Brown J (2009) Growing mini-cucumbers with supplemental lighting: additional blue light, grow pipe heating, and Ca nutrition. 6th International Symposium on Light in Horticulture, November 15-19, 2009, Tsukuba, Japan, p 61 (Abstract)
- Hay RKM (1990) The influence of photoperiod on the dry-matter production of grasses and cereals. New Phytologist 116, 233-254
- Hay RKM, Heide OM (1983) Specific photoperiodic stimulation of dry matter production in high-latitude cultivar of *Poa pratensis*. *Physiologia Plantarum* 57, 135-142
- Hillman WS (1956) Injury of tomato plants by continuous light and unfavorable photoperiodic cycles. *American Journal of Botany* **43**, 89-96
- Hirono Y (1964) Utilization of the increased vigor obtained through prolongation of the vegetative stage, Index of Arabidopsis Information Service 1. Available online: http://www.arabidopsis.org/ais/1964/ratcl-1964-aagiz.html

- Hohlova VV, Kuminov EP, Dolgushev VA (1976) Selekcija chernoj smorodiny v uslovijah intensivnoj svetokul'tury. *Izvestia Sibirskogo Otdelenia Akademii Nauk SSSR, Seria biologicheskih nauk* **3**, 119-126*
- Hohlova VV, Kuminov EP, Lisovskij GM (1979) Vlijanie fotoperiodov na rost i razvitije sejancev chernoj smorodiny v svetokul'ture. *Doklady VASHNIL* 4, 25-26*
- Homma T, Anzai T, Matsuo K, Kanemitsu N, Satoh H, Hiramoto H (2009) Effect of continuous irradiation of LED light on growth of young tea plants. In: 6th International Symposium on Light in Horticulture, November 15-19, 2009, Tsukuba, Japan, p 121 (Abstract)
- Inada K, Yabumoto Y (1989) Effect of light, quality, daylength and periodic temperature varuation on the growth of lettuce (*Lactuca sativa*) and radish (*Raphanus sativus*) plants. Japanese Journal of Crop Science 58 (4), 689-694
- Isaeva IS (1978) Rost i razvitie yabloni v uslobiyah razlichnyh svetovyh rezhimov. In: Kuperman FM, Rzhanova EI (Eds) Svet i Morfogenez Rastenij, MGU, Moskva, pp 162-171*
- Ivanova LA, Kotel'nikov VV, Bykova AE (2006) Fiziko-himicheskaja transformacija minerala vermikulita v substrat dlja vyraschivanija rastenij. Vestnik MGTU 9, 885-891*
- Jackson SD (2009) Plant responses to photoperiod. New Phytologist 181, 517-531
- Jensen EB, Veierskov B (1998) Interaction between photoperiod, photosynthesis and ethylene formation in tomato plants (*Lycopersicon esculentum* cv. Ailsa Craig and ACC-oxidase antisense pTOM13). *Physiologia Plantarum* 103, 363-368
- Jiao J, Tsujita MJ, Grodzinski B (1991) Influence of radiation and CO₂ enrichment on whole-plant net CO₂ exchange in roses. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science* 71, 245-252
- Kardo-Sysoeva EK (1963) Fiziologo-biohimicheskoe izuchenie kul'tury kartofelja na Krajnem Severe. Bjulleten' nauchno-tehnicheskoy informacii NII sel'skogo hozyaistva Krajnego Severa 3, 47-51*
- Kasajima S, Inoue N, Mahmud R, Fujita K, Kato M (2007) Effect of light quality on developmental rate of wheat under continuous light at a constant temperature. *Plant Production Science* 10, 286-291
- Kato T (1965) Physiological studies on the bulbing and dormancy of onion plants. V. The relation between the metabolism of carbohydrates, nitrogen compounds and auxin and the bulbing phenomenon. *Journal of the Japanese Society for Horticultural Science* 34, 43-51
- Kisljakova TE (1965) Vlijanie temperaturno-svetovyh i pochvennyh uslovij na klubneobrazovanie, nakoplenie i kachestvo krahmala u kartofelja. In: Shakhov AA (Ed) Fiziologicheskie Voprosy Severnogo Rastenievodstva, Nauka, Moskva, pp 39-64*
- Kitaya Y, Niu G, Kozai T, Ohashi M (1998) Photosynthetic photon flux, photoperiod, and CO₂ concentration affect growth and morphology of lettuce plug transplants. *Horticultural Science* 33, 988-991
- Kleshnin AF, Lebedeva EV, Protasova NN (1959) Vyraschivanie Rastenij Pri Iskusstvennom Osveschenii, Sel'hozgiz, Moskva, 128 pp*
- Koontz HV, Prince RP (1986) Effect of 16 and 24 hours daily radiation (light) on lettuce growth. *Horticultural Science* 21, 123-124
- Kornilov AA (1968) Biologicheskie Osnovy Vysokih Urozhaev Zernovyh Kul'tur, Kolos, Moskva, 241 pp*
- Langton FA, Adams SR, Cockshull KE (2003) Effects of photoperiod on leaf greenness of four bedding plant species. *Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology* 78, 400-404
- Lebedeva EV, Vil'jams MV, Cvetkova IV (1978) Vlijanie dlitel'nosti obluchenija na rost i produktivnost' rastenij stolovoj svjekly. *Fiziologia rasteniy* 25 (1), 191-195*
- Lefsrud MG, Kopsell DA, Auge RM, Both AJ (2006) Biomass production and pigment accumulation in kale grown under increasing photoperiods. *Horti*cultural Science 41, 603-606
- Logendra S, Putman JD, Janes HW (1990) The influence of light period on carbon partitioning, translocation and growth in tomato. *Scientia Horticulturae* **42**, 75-83
- Luk'janova LM, Lokteva TN, Bulycheva TM (1986) Gazoobmen i pigmentnaja sistema rastenij Kol'skoj Subarktiki, Apatity, 127 pp*
- L'vova IN (1978) Vliyanie svetovogo rezhima na morphogenez raznuh sortov ogurca. In: Kuperman FM, Rzhanova EI (Eds) Svet i Morfogenez Rastenij, MGU, Moskva, pp 113-136*
- Maksimov NA (1925) Kultura rastenij na electricheskom svete i primenenie eye dlya semennogo kontrolya i selektsii. Nauchno-agronomichesky zhurnal 2 (7-8), 395-404*
- Maksimov NA (1934) Primenenie iskusstvennogo osveschenija dlja uskorenija selekcionnoj raboty. Semenovodstvo 4, 16-19*
- Maksimov NA (1955) Biologicheskaja osnova svetokul'tury rastenij. Trudy Instituta Fiziologii Rasteniy AN SSSR 10, 7-16*
- Markovskaja EF, Sysoeva MI (2004) Rol' Sutochnogo Temperaturnogo Gradienta v Ontogeneze Rastenij, Nauka, Moskva, 119 pp*
- Massa G, Eddy R, Mitchell (2007) C. NCERA-101 Station Report. Purdue University "101 Ways to (try to) Grow Arabidopsis". Plant-Growth Facilities Website. Available online:
- http://www.hort.purdue.edu/hort/facilities/greenhouse/101exp.shtml
- Masuda M, Yamaguchi T, Murakami K, Kosaka S (2002) Effects of continuous light intensity on dry mass yield, light-induced leaf injury and super-

oxide dismutase activity in pepper and eggplant. *Journal of the Society of High Technology in Agriculture* **14 (1)**, 32-37 (in Japanese, English abstract)

- Masuda M, Yoshida Y, Murakami K, Nakachi K, Kinoshita T (2006) Leaf injury and dry mass production in eggplant and pepper plant as affected by overnight supplemental lighting. *Environment Control in Biology* 44 (4), 285-291
- Micallef BJ, Haskins KA, Vanderveer PJ, Roh KS, Shewmaker CK, Sharkey TD (1995) Altered photosynthesis, flowering, and fruiting in transgenic tomato plants that have increased capacity for sucrose synthesis. *Planta* 196, 327-334
- Miroslavov EA, Voznesenskaja EV, Kateeva NK (1998) Sravnitel'naja harakteristika anatomii lista rastenij arkticheskoj i boreal'noj zon. *Botanicheskiy Zhurnal* 83, 21-26*
- Moe R (1997) Physiological aspects of supplementary lighting in horticulture. Acta Horticulturae 418, 17-24
- Mortensen LM (1992) Diurnal photosynthesis and transpiration of *Ficus benjamina* L. as affected by length of photoperiod, CO₂ concentration and light level. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section B Soil and Plant Science* 42, 100-105
- Mortensen LM, Braut E (1998) Lighting strategy for pot roses. *Gartneryrket* **88 (7)**, 23-26 (in Norwegian)
- Mortensen LM, Fjeld T (1998) Effects of air humidity, lighting period and lamp type on growth and vase life of roses. *Scientia Horticulturae* **73**, 229-237
- Mortensen LM, Gislerød HR (1999) Influence of air humidity and lighting period on growth, vase life and water relations of 14 rose cultivars. *Scientia Horticulturae* 82, 289-298
- Mortensen LM, Gislerød HR (2005) Effect of air humidity variation on powdery mildew and keeping quality of cut roses. *Scientia Horticulturae* 104, 49-55
- Mortensen LM, Pettersen RI, Gislerød HR (2007) Air humidity variation and control of vase life and powdery mildew in cut roses under continuous lighting. *European Journal of Horticultural Science* **72**, 255-259
- Moshkov BS (1987) Aktinoritmizm rastenij, Agropromizdat, Moskva, 272 pp*
- Murage E, Masuda M (1997) Response of pepper and eggplant to continuous light in relation to leaf chlorosis and activities of antioxidative enzymes. *Scientia Horticulturae* **70**, 269-279
- Murage EN, Sato Y, Masuda M (1997) Influence of light quality, PPFD and temperature on leaf chlorosis of eggplants grown under continuous illuminetion. *Scientia Horticulturae* 68, 73-82
- Murage E, Watashiro N, Masuda M (1996) Leaf chlorosis and carbon metabolism of eggplant in response to continuous light and carbon dioxide. *Scientia Horticulturae* 67, 27-37
- **Murakami K, Yamamoto T, Fujimoto K, Okabe K, Masuda M** (2009) Lowpungent sweet pepper selected under continuous fluorescent illumination. In: 6^{th} International Symposium on Light in Horticulture, November 15-19, 2009, Tsukuba, Japan, p 149 (Abstract)
- Oda M, Aoki S, Nagaka M, Tsuji K (1989) Nutrient solution culture of lettuce under artificial light. II. Growth promotion induced by continuous illuminetion with low light intensity. *Environment Control in Biology* **27**, 75-82
- **Ohler TA, Mitchell CA** (1996) Identifying yield-optimizing environments for two cowpea breeding lines by manipulating photoperiod and harvest scenario. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science* **121 (3)**, 576-581
- **Ohyama K, Kozai T** (1998) Estimating electric energy consumption and its cost in a transplant production factory with artificial lighting: a case study. *Journal of the Society of High Technology in Agriculture* **10**, 96-107
- **Ohyama K, Manabe K, Omura Y, Kozai T, Kubota C** (2005a) Potential use of a 24-hour photoperiod (continuous light) with alternating air temperature for production of tomato plug transplants in a closed system. *Horticultural Science* **40**, 374-377
- Ohyama K, Omura Y, Kozai T (2005b) Effects of air temperature regimes on physiological disorders and floral development of tomato seedlings grown under continuous light. *Horticultural Science* 40, 1304-1306
- **Omura Y, Oshima Y, Kubota C, Kozai T** (2001) Treatments of fluctuating temperature under continuous light enabled the production of quality transplants of tomato, eggplant and sweet pepper. *Horticultural Science* **36**, 508
- Paul MJ, Foyer CH (2001) Sink regulation of photosynthesis. Journal of Experimental Botany 52, 1383-1400
- Pettersen RI, Moe R, Gislerød HR (2007) Growth of pot roses and post-harvest rate of water loss as affected by air humidity and temperature variations during growth under continuous light. *Scientia Horticulturae* 114, 207-213
- Pettersen RI, Mortensen LM, Moe R, Gislerød HR (2006) Air humidity control essential for rose production under continuous lighting. *Acta Horticulturae* **711**, 323-331
- Pohjakallio O (1953) On the effect of daylength on the yield of potato. *Physiologia Plantarum* 6, 140-149
- Roodenburg JWM (1940) Das Verhalten von Pflanzen in Verschieden Farbigem Licht. Recueil des Travaux Botaniques Néerlandais 37, 303-374
- Rowell T, Mortley DG, Loretan PA, Bonsi CK, Hill WA (1999) Continuous daily light period and temperature influence peanut yield in nutrient film technique. *Crop Science* **39**, 1111-1114
- Rzhanova EI (1978) Reakciya kul'turnyh vidov i form bobovyh rastenii triby vikobyh na raznye svetovye rezhimy. In: Kuperman FM, Rzhanova EI (Eds)

Svet i Morfogenez Rastenij, MGU, Moskva, pp 44-73*

- Sato T, Kudo N, Nishimura R (2009) Effect of day extension treatments with far red light on flowering of *Eustoma grandiflorum* in early winter. In: 6th *International Symposium on Light in Horticulture*, November 15-19, 2009, Tsukuba, Japan, p 141 (Abstract)
- Sethi SC, Byth DE, Gowda CL, Green JM (1981) Photoperiodic response and accelerated generation turnover in chickpea. *Field Crops Research* 4 (3), 215-225
- Shahov AA (1965) Ekologo-fiziologicheskaja perestrojka rastenij na fotoenergeticheskoj osnove. In: Shakhov AA (Ed) Fiziologicheskie Voprosy Severnogo Rastenievodstva, Nauka, Moskva, pp 5-17*
- Shavrov LA (1961) Ekologo-geograficheskie zakonomernosti strukturnoj izmenchivosti introducirovannyh rastenij. *Botanicheskiy Zhurnal* 46, 328-336*
 Shul'gin IA (1973) *Rastenie i Solnce*, Gidrometeoizdat, Leningrad, 251 pp*
- Shut gin IA (1973) Rastenie i Sonice, Giulonieteoizdat, Lennigrad, 231 pp⁻ Shvecova VM, Voznesenskij VL (1970) Sutochnye i sezonnye izmenenija in-
- tensivnosti fotosinteza u nekotoryh rastenij Zapadnogo Tajmyra. *Botanicheskiy zhurnal* 55, 66-76*
- Simonsen Ø (1985) Herbage breeding in northern areas. In: Kaurin A, Junttila O, Nilsen J (Eds) *Plant Production in the North*, Norwegian University Press, Trømsø, pp 277-295
- Solhaug KA (1991) Influence of photoperiod and temperature on dry matter production and chlorophyll content in temperate grasses. *Norwegian Journal* of Agricultural Sciences 5, 365-383
- Stanko SA (1965) Vlijanie udobrenij i zakalki rassady na usvoenie sveta rastenijami v Zapoljar'e. In: Shakhov AA (Ed) *Fiziologicheskie Voprosy Severnogo Rastenievodstva*, Nauka, Moskva, pp 97-113*
- Stutte GW, Yorio NS, Wheeler RM (1996) Interacting effects of photoperiod and photosynthetic photon flux on net carbon assimilation in potato leaves. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science* 121, 264-268
- Suthaparan A, Stensvand A, Torre S, Herrero ML, Pettersen RI, Gadoury DM, Gislerød HR (2010) Continuous lighting reduces conidial production and germinability in the rose powdery mildew pathosystem. *Plant Disease* 94, 339-344
- Sysoeva MI, Slobodjanik II, Sherudilo EG, Vasilevskaja NV (2007) The effect of short-term daily temperature drops on the processes of organogenesis in *Cucumis sativus* L. under different photoperiods. *Biology Bulletin* 34, 644-647
- Tibbitts TW, Bennett SM, Cao W (1990) Control of continuous irradiation injury on potato with daily temperature cycling. *Plant Physiology* **93**, 409-411
- Tihomirov AA, Zolotuhin IG, Sid'ko FJa (1976) Vlijanie svetovyh rezhimov na produktivnost' i kachestvo urozhaja redisa. *Fiziologia Rasteniy* 23 (3), 502-507*
- Volk GM, Mitchell CA (1993) Use of continuous lighting during the rice life cycle to increase grain yield for a CELSS. *Horticultural Science* 28, 443-591
- Voskobojnik LK, Fedorenko TS, Kljuka VI (1981) Formirovanie i razvitie generativnyh organov podsolnechnika v uslovijah iskusstvennogo klimata. Selekcija i Semenovodstvo 6, 21-23*
- Vézina F, Trudel MJ, Gosselin A (1991) Influence du mode d'utilisation de l'éclairage d'appoint sur la productivité et la physiologie de la tomate se serre. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science* 71, 923-932
- VNIIZH (1978) Metodika vyraschivanija zernovyh kul'tur dlja selekcii na ustanovkah uskorennogo vyraschivanija rastenij (UVR). Izdatel'stvo. VNIIZH, Shortandy*
- Warrington IJ, Norton RA (1991) An evaluation of plant growth and development under various daily quantum integrals. *Journal of the American Society* for Horticultural Science 116, 544-551
- Went FW (1957) The Experimental Control of Plant Growth, Chronica Botanica Co., Waltham, Mass, 343 pp
- Wheeler RM (2006) Potato and human exploration of space: some observations from NASA-sponsored controlled environment studies. *Potato Research* 49, 67-90
- Wheeler RM, Tibbitts TW (1986a) Utilization of potatoes for life support systems in space. I. Cultivar-photoperiod interaction. American Journal of Potato Research 63, 315-323
- Wheeler RM, Tibbitts TW (1986b) Growth and tuberization of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) under continuous light. Plant Physiology 80, 801-804
- Wheeler RM, Tibbitts TW (1987) Utilization of potatoes for life support systems in space. III. Productivity at successive harvest dates under 12-h and 24h photoperiods. *American Journal of Potato Research* 64, 311-320
- Wheeler RM, Tibbitts TW (1989) Utilization of potatoes for life support systems in space. IV. Effects of CO₂. American Journal of Potato Research 66, 25-34
- Wheeler RM, Tibbitts TW (1997) Influence of changes in daylength and carbon dioxide on the growth of potato. *Annals of Botany* 79, 529-533
- Wheeler RM, Peterson BV, Stutte GW (2004) Ethylene production throughout growth and development of plants. *Horticultural Science* 39, 1541-1545
- Wheeler RM, Steffen KL, Tibbitts TW, Palta JP (1986) Utilization of potatoes for life support systems in space. II. Effects of temperature under 24-h and 12-h photoperiod. *American Journal of Potato Research* 63, 639-647
- Wheeler RM, Tibbitts TW, Fitzpatrick AH (1991) Carbon dioxide effects on potato growth under different photoperiods and irradiance. *Crop Science* 31, 1209-1213
- Wise RS, Naylor AW (1987) Chilling-enhanced photooxidation: Evidence for

the role of singlet oxygen and superoxide in the breakdown of pigments and endogenous antioxidants. *Plant Physiology* **83**, 278-282 Withrow AP, Withrow RB (1949) Photoperiodic chlorosis in tomato. *Plant*

- Physiology 24, 657-663
- Wolff SA, Langerud A (2006) Fruit yield, starch content and leaf chlorosis in cucumber exposed to continuous lighting. European Journal of Horticultural Science 71, 259-261
- Yanagi T, Yachi T, Okuda N, Okamoto K (2006) Light quality of continuous illuminating at night to induce floral initiation of Fragaria chiloensis L. CHI-

24-1. Scientia Horticulturae 109, 309-314

- Yandell BS, Najar A, Wheeler RM, Tibbitts TW (1988) Use of response surface methodology to model the effects of light, carbon dioxide, and temperature on the growth of potato. Crop Science 28, 811-818
- Zhukov VI, Romanovskaja RN (1980) Prodolzhitel'nost dnja pri uskorennom vyraschivanii jarovoj pshenicy. Nauchno-tehnicheskiy Bjuleten' Sibirskogo NII Rastenievodstva i Selekcii **5-6**, 74-77*
- Zhurbickij ZI, Vartapetjan SM (1956) Vlijanie letnego poljarnogo dnja na assimiljaciju i klubneobrazovanie u kartofelja. Fiziologia Rasteniy 3, 62-64*